NO. 28932-0-III

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ELDIO RIZO,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

DAVID L. DONNAN
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF APPEAL.

Mr. Rizo was convicted of robbery and assault and sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole. On appeal he contends the evidence was inadequate to support his conviction, that the multiple convictions for the same conduct violate the constitutional protections from double jeopardy and that the jury was improperly instructed regarding the elements of assault. Mr. Rizo further contends that his life sentence must be stricken because the evidence establishing his criminal history was improperly admitted and the procedures employed by the sentencing court violated his rights to equal protection under the law and the constitutional right to trial by jury.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The evidence was insufficient to prove Mr. Rizo's conviction for robbery in the first degree and assault in the first degree beyond a reasonable doubt.

2. Mr. Rizo's convictions and sentences for robbery in the first degree and two counts of assault in the first degree violate the state and federal constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy.

3. The jury instructions regarding first degree assault relieved the prosecution of the burden of proving an essential element of the crime in

violation of the defendant's state and federal constitutional rights to due process of law and a jury finding on all the elements.

4. Where defense counsel failed to timely challenge the erroneous instruction, Mr. Rizo has received constitutional deficient representation which has prejudiced him, and he is entitled to relief.

5. The trial court erred in finding Mr. Rizo committed certain prior offenses based on evidence of fingerprint comparisons in the absence of scientifically establish and uniformly accepted standards. CP 14 (Findings of Fact III (A), (B), (C), and IV (A), (B)).

6. The trial court deprived Mr. Rizo of the equal protection guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, § 12 of the Washington Constitution, when the court, and not a jury, found the facts necessary to sentence him as a persistent offender.

7. The trial court deprived Mr. Rizo of his constitutional right to a jury determination of all facts necessary to aggravate a crime beyond that otherwise provided the jury's determination of the underlying offense requiring reversal of the persistent offender finding and life in prison sentence.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The constitutional right to due process of law includes the right to proof beyond any reasonable doubt in order to sustain a conviction.

Where the evidence that Mr. Rizo used a firearm was inconsistent and incomplete, did the State fail to meet its burden of proof requiring reversal of convictions for first degree robbery and assault in the first degree?

2. The double jeopardy clauses of the federal and state constitutions protect against multiple prosecutions and multiple punishments for the same offense. Mr. Rizo's conviction for first degree robbery was elevated to a higher degree by the same criminal conduct upon which his convictions for assault in the first degree were based.

Where the offenses occurred in a single incident, in a short time frame, without any separate injury, and the assaults constituted the force necessary to establish the robbery, do his convictions for the multiple crimes violate the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the Washington Constitution, article I, § 9?

3. First degree assault requires proof that the accused acted "with intent to inflict great bodily harm." RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a). In defining the common law forms of assault for the jury, however, the jury was instructed that an assault occurs "even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury." CP 45 (attached hereto as Appendix A). It

is the trial court's obligation to ensure that the jury is properly, and clearly, instructed on the law in such a manner as to guarantee the verdict which touches on all the elements of the offense. Where the instructions to the jury give conflicting direction with regard to the essential elements which must be established, is the verdict which results, flawed requiring reversal.

4. Mr. Rizo is guaranteed the right to the effective assistance of counsel by the 14th Amendment due process clause and Art 1, sec 22 of the Washington Constitution. Where there was no conceivable tactical or strategic reason to relieve the prosecution of its burden of proof with regard to the specific intent to inflict great bodily injury by giving conflicting instructions to the jury, did Mr. Rizo receive constitutionally deficient representation?

5. In order to sentence Mr. Rizo as a persistent offender it was necessary for the State to prove he had two prior most serious offenses which had not "washed out" of his criminal history. Mr. Rizo denied having committed such offenses and the State sought to prove he did using testimony regarding fingerprint comparisons from a variety of court documents, but the State's witness acknowledged there were no uniform or accepted professional standards for making such comparisons. Was the evidence sufficient to establish identity and support imposing a sentence of life in prison in the absence of such standards?

6. The Equal Protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 12 of the Washington Constitution require similarly situated people be treated the same with regard to the legitimate purpose of the law. With the purpose of punishing more harshly recidivist criminals, the Legislature enacted statutes authorizing greater penalties for specified offenses based on recidivism. In certain instances, the Legislature, and the courts, have labeled the prior convictions ‘elements,’ requiring they be proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and in other instances have termed them ‘aggravators’ or ‘sentencing factors,’ permitting a judge to find the prior convictions by a preponderance of the evidence. Where no rational basis exists for treating similarly-situated recidivist criminals differently, and the effect of the classification is to deny some recidivists the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment protections of a jury trial and proof beyond a reasonable doubt, does the arbitrary classification violate equal protection?

7. The Sixth Amendment right to jury trial, and the Fourteenth Amendment right to due process of law, encompasses the right to a jury determination, beyond a reasonable doubt, of all facts which permit the imposition of a greater sentence than otherwise allowed by a verdict. Does the so-called “prior conviction” exception described in recent United

States Supreme Court caselaw violate these fundamental constitutional standards.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On November 25, 2007, Timothy Englund was working as a loss prevention officer at the Sears store in Union Gap with Rigoberto Cardenas and Kristina Fernandez. RP 151-56, 221-22. Mr. Englund was monitoring the multitude of surveillance cameras when he observed Julia Pina and Elodio Rizo in the cologne department of the store. RP 157-58. Mr. Englund concluded Ms. Pina was acting suspiciously because she seemed to be looking up at the various surveillance cameras. RP 157.

After selecting several colognes, Ms. Pina placed them in her shopping cart under her purse and then went to the men's department where she selected a shirt, took off the price tag and put it on top of her purse. RP 159-61. Ms. Pina, with Mr. Rizo following, then continued around the store, passing through several other departments before stopping in a back corner of the store. RP 161-62. Ms. Pina was eventually observed moving the shirt out of the way, lifted her purse and put the cologne inside. RP 163-64. She then pushed the cart away and headed out the doors of the store with Mr. Rizo approximately 8 to 10 feet behind. RP 165.

Mr. Cardenas had been directed to wait outside the exit while Mr. Englund observed the events unfold on the surveillance cameras. RP 163. When Mr. Englund saw Ms. Pina and Mr. Rizo leaving the store, he left his location and ran outside to assist Mr. Cardenas. RP 165, 187.

Outside the store, Mr. Cardenas ran toward Ms. Pina and Mr. Rizo, identified himself and said "I need all my unpaid merchandise." RP 225-26. Mr. Englund also reportedly contacted Ms. Pina, identified himself as a loss prevention officer, and asked for the cologne, to which she responded, "no, no, no." RP 165, 188.

Both Mr. Cardenas and Mr. Englund testified that Mr. Rizo kept walking and then pulled his hand out of his pocket or waistband holding what appeared to be a silver revolver and discharged one or two shots. RP 166-67, 227-29. Ms. Pina and Mr. Rizo then proceeded to their car which was parked nearby and drove away. RP 169-71.

Mr. Englund testified that the shots were directed at Mr. Cardenas. RP 166 189, 203, 207. Mr. Cardenas testified the events happened so quickly, he did not have an opportunity to see what type of gun it was and instead immediately turned and ran. RP 243-47. Because he had turned, Mr. Cardenas did not know where the gun was pointed when the shots were allegedly fired. RP 247, 254.

Investigating officers were unable to find any shell casings at the scene. RP 257. Officers speculated a wall of the Sears building a few inches from the ground might have been a possible impact sights. RP 258, 278-80, 327. The officers were unable to confirm this was in fact an impact sight, however, and no tests were conducted, nor was there any evidence of paint or chipping below the spot that would have been indicative of impact. RP 269, 272, 284, 339-41.

E. ARGUMENT.

1. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE, BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, THAT MR. RIZO WAS GUILTY OF ROBBERY AND ASSAULT AS CHARGED.

a. The evidence must establish all the elements of the alleged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The constitutional guarantee of due process of law requires the State to prove each element of the crime that is charged. State v. Baeza, 100 Wn.2d 487, 488, 670 P.2d 646 (1983); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970).¹

Robbery is defined by RCW 9A.56.190 which provides:

A person commits robbery when he unlawfully takes

¹ The appellate court must determine “whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” Jackson v. Virginia, 422 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); State v. Johnson, 100 Wn.2d 607, 614, 674 P.2d 145 (1983) overruled in part on other grounds by, State v. Bergeron, 105 Wn.2d 1, 4, 711 P.2d 1000 (1985).

personal property from the person of another or in his presence against his will by the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his property or the person or property of anyone. Such force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking; in either of which cases the degree of force is immaterial. Such taking constitutes robbery whenever it appears that, although the taking was fully completed without the knowledge of the person from whom taken, such knowledge was prevented by the use of force or fear.

Robbery in the first degree is defined by RCW 9A.56.200 and provides in pertinent part:

- (1) A person is guilty of robbery in the first degree if:
 - (a) In the commission of a robbery or of immediate flight therefrom, he or she:
 - (i) Is armed with a deadly weapon; or
 - (ii) Displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon; or
 - (iii) Inflicts bodily injury;...

Assault in the first degree is defined by RCW 9A.36.011 and provides in pertinent part:

- (1) A person is guilty of assault in the first degree if he or she, with intent to inflict great bodily harm:
 - (a) Assaults another with a firearm or any deadly weapon or by any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death;....

The amended information alleged in Count 1, the robbery, that:

On or about November 25, 2007, in the State of Washington, with intent to steal, you unlawfully took, from the person or in the presence of Rigoberto Cardenas and/or Timothy Englund working as employees of Sears, the property of another, perfume, against that person's will, by use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear

of injury to that person or his/her property or the person or property of anyone in order to obtain or retain the property taken, and in the commission of or immediate flight therefrom, you were armed with a deadly weapon, a firearm; or displayed what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon.

CP 62. As to the assault, the amended information alleged in Count 2:

On or about November 25, 2007, in the State of Washington, with intent to inflict great bodily harm upon the person of Timothy Englund, you assaulted that person with a firearm.

CP 62. Count 3 then alleged:

On or about November 25, 2007, in the State of Washington, with intent to inflict great bodily harm upon the person of Rigoberto Cardenas, you assaulted that person with a firearm.

CP 62.

b. The evidence presented at trial failed to establish all the essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt. In a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence of a robbery, the prosecutor's burden is clear.

To successfully resist the challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the state must make out a prima facie case consisting of two elements: first, that the victim was put in fear of violence to his person or property; and second, that something of value was taken from his person or in his presence.

State v. McDonald, 74 Wn.2d 141, 143, 443 P.2d 651 (1968). Mr. Rizo contends the State has failed here on both points.

Mr. Rizo defended against the allegations at trial by acknowledging that he was present when Ms. Pina stole items from Sears, but denied having, displaying or firing a gun in support of her unlawful efforts.² RP 148-50, 462-74. Because the evidence in support of this allegation was inconsistent and conflicting, it was insufficient to establish proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the elements of either first degree robbery or assault. Furthermore, where the theft occurred peaceably, any force was used at a later time after they had left the store and were passing through the parking lot to their car, the facts do not establish robbery.

i. Evidence Mr. Rizo used, displayed or discharged a firearm was insufficient to establish proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

Although the loss prevention officers testified they believed they saw a weapon and heard shots fired, there was an overwhelming amount of contradictory evidence in the form of surveillance video and other witnesses which effectively precluded a finding of proof beyond reasonable doubt.

Mr. Englund testified he began to get excited as soon as he saw signs of potential theft and felt an adrenaline rush. RP 175, 195, 212-13. It took Mr. Englund 15 to 20 seconds to run from his location monitoring

² Although he did not testify at trial, Mr. Rizo explained at the time of sentencing that, "I have never in my life used a firearm, otherwise the video shows that I've never had a weapon." RP 528.

the surveillance cameras to the parking lot where he supposedly saw a gun and heard shots. RP 197. Fredrick Haas, another security guard who came upon the scene after the shooting described Mr. Englund as hysterical. RP 292.

Mr. Englund was certainly not a state of mind conducive to either taking or relating particularly accurate observations. As a result significant differences were identified in his description of the gun he thought he saw. RP 200-08, 214-17. Furthermore, although Mr. Englund thought he heard two shots, other witnesses such as Mr. Haas described hearing only one elongated reverberation which he did not immediately recognize as a gunshot. RP 293, 339.

Mr. Cardenas noted that the incident took only a split second. RP 240. He reported he saw Mr. Rizo fumbling or playing with something in his waistband, but never saw him reach into his pocket. RP 241-42. As their brief encounter continued into the parking lot, the lighting becomes poorer. RP 242. Mr. Cardenas acknowledged that as he saw Mr. Rizo fumbling with his pants, he thought Rizo might have a knife or want to fight. RP 242-43. He described Mr. Rizo as being approximately 8 feet away when he allegedly pulled the gun and fired from a position where the limited lighting cast a shadow in front of Mr. Rizo. RP 245. Mr. Cardenas quickly turned and ran when he saw what he thought was a gun.

He had his back to Mr. Rizo, therefore, when he heard what he thought was a gunshot. RP 247-48.

From her position monitoring the surveillance cameras, Kristina Fernandez acknowledged that she “didn’t really directly see [a gun]....” RP 306. In reviewing the video again during trial Ms. Fernandez admitted, “No, I didn’t – I – I didn’t see the gun there. I mean, I didn’t – if from looking at that video, I – I can’t see the gun,....” RP 308.

The investigating detective, Alba Levesque, also agreed that the video surveillance failed to show what if anything Mr. Rizo might have taken from his waistband after he left the Sears store. RP 336. Furthermore, while the detective identified what he believed to be smoke on the video, he was unable to explain why there would not have been two such puffs of smoke if two shots had been fired as alleged. RP 337.

Finally, Ms. Pina, who was closer to Mr. Rizo than anyone and testified on behalf of the State, indicated she never saw a gun or knife. RP 414.

In light of the significant gaps in the evidence, it should not have been possible for a reasonable jury to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the State had proven Mr. Rizo had a gun or that he fired it at the loss prevention officers. His convictions for first degree robbery and first degree assault based upon that supposition should be reversed.

ii. Where the property was peacefully taken and use of force occurred only after leaving the store, robbery is not established. Washington has utilizes a "transactional view" of robbery. State v. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d 284, 830 P.2d 641 (1992). Under this view, a robbery can be an ongoing offense so that force used to retain the stolen property will satisfy the force element of robbery. Force that is used merely to affect an escape after property is peaceably taken, however, does not satisfy the force element of robbery under Washington's transactional view.³ State v. Johnson, 155 Wn.2d 609, 121 P.3d 91 (2005). This analysis is based on the logical concept that the commission of a crime is over when all acts constituting the offense have ceased. People v. Cooper, 53 Cal.3d 1158, 1161, 282 Cal.Rptr. 450, 811 P.2d 742 (1991).

In the present case, Mr. Rizo and Ms. Pina affected their escape upon exiting the Sears store. RP 164, 223. Under our transactional approach, the crime of theft was complete when Ms. Pina reached this place of temporary safety in the parking lot outside the store. It was only in an effort to avoid a subsequent detention, after he had already successfully reached a place of temporary safety, that Mr. Rizo allegedly used a firearm. RP 228 (they proceeded 18-20 feet into the parking lot,

³ The majority of jurisdictions favor this transactional view that considers the robbery complete once the assailant has affected his escape. People v. Anderson, 64 Cal.2d 633, 638, 414 P.2d 366, 51 Cal.Rptr. 238 (1966); People v.

past Cardenas, when Mr. Rizo allegedly turned and fired).⁴

Although the transactional approach does broaden the scope of common law robbery by allowing force occurring after the unlawful taking to satisfy the force element of the crime, it must occur prior the perpetrators arrival at a place of temporary safety. This is clearly illustrated in State v. Johnson, where the defendant, after unlawfully taking a television set out of a store and into the parking lot, dropped the television set when he became aware that security guards were attempting to apprehend him. The defendant then punched a security guard in the face. 155 Wn.2d 610. The Supreme Court found that because the force was not used to retain the property, it could not satisfy the force element of robbery. Id. at 611. Similarly, because the theft was completed when Ms. Pina exited the Sears and walked on past Mr. Cardenas into the parking lot, are insufficient to support a conviction for robbery.

Sanders, 28 Mich.App. 274, 276, 184 N.W.2d 269 (1970).

⁴ Federal case law illustrates this break between the theft and the use of force. In U.S. v. Vowiell, 869 F.2d 1264, 1268 (9th Cir.1989), applying the rule regarding escape to temporary safety to the federal crime of escape, held that the crime of aiding an escape terminates once the escapee has reached temporary safety. the Court went on to say, "[w]hen the physical control has ended by flight beyond immediate active pursuit, the escape is complete. After that, aid to the fugitive is no longer aiding his escape." Id. at 1268, quoting Orth v. United States, 252 F. 566, 568 (4th Cir. 1918),

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