FILED Dec 07, 2012

NO. 28932-0-III

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ELODIO RIZO,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JAMES P. HAGARTY Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

Two witnesses confronted the Rizo and Pina, their testimony may vary in the exact detail but does not waiver in the core facts, there was a gun, it was discharged and the discharge was at or in the direction of both.

There was additional evidence and testimony that the robbery was committed by Rizo using a gun. Mr. Cardenas on cross at RP 243-48; the

testimony of Officer Rivera who identified an impact location which corresponded to the general direction from which a shot would have come RP 258-60, 69,72; Officer James who identified the impact location and stated in his experience it appeared to be the impact location from a small caliber hand gun and that location was consistent with a handgun having been fired in the direction Cardenas indicated from the location Cardenas was at, at the time the shot was fired RP 277-81; loss prevention supervisor Fred Haas who heard the shots and met Englund as he fled yelling shot fired RP 287-88 (It should be noted that Haas did not describe Englund as "hysterical" as indicated in appellant's brief at pg. 12 what he did state was "He was on the verge of hysterics...He was keeping within a hair's width of losing control. He is a combat veteran. He is usually quite well, he was just fired on, point-blank" RP 287, 292.) He then states Englund was yelling shots fired, shots fired everyone take cover" (RP 287). Mr. Haas was an ex-Marine who stated when asked if there was any doubt as to what the sound he heard was "No ma'am. It was gunfire" RP 289; Ms Fernandez who was watching the monitors stated that she heard "two gunshots – I – one or two gunshots at the time." RP 303, I just saw him reached (sic) his pocket and pull something out. I didn't really directly see, (the gun)... and I heard gunshots." RP 304, I did see a gun when he pulled the -- something out of his pocket... It --- he pulled a gun. I know it was a gun because I heard gunshots." RP 307; Det. Levesque observed the video and identified where Rizo pulled out a gun fired at Cardenas then turned and fired at Englund RP 326-7, she also identified what smoke that would be consistent with a revolver having been fired. RP 333-34, she also indicates that Mr. Haas state to her that he heard what he thought was a second shot. RP 343; codefendant Pina stated she heard "some big booms, two times and that's it." RP 388.

The evidence presented from all of the witnesses proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the crimes charge were committed by Rizo. Rizo did not move the trial court for a directed verdict nor move to dismiss at the end of the trial for sufficiency of the evidence.

2. DOUBLE JEOPARDY WAS NOT VIOLATED.

Rizo was not punished twice for the same criminal act. The jury instruction cited above makes it clear that the theory throughout this case was that Pina and Rizo were working as accomplices. Therefore the State's theory is a logical conclusion. The act of shoving Mr. Cardenas was all the force needed to insure the conviction for the robbery, the display of the gun was the aggravator.

The two loss prevention officers believed that Rizo had something on his person but at the time Pina was shoving Mr. Cardenas there was no weapon which had been displayed. They were worried about the fact that he had been messing with his waist band in the store and outside when the confrontation occurred. The crime was completed when they saw the gun and both the victims turned and fled. It was after that even if just seconds later that the assault occurred as stated by the Deputy Prosecutor. The fact that Rizo took the gun out then he actually <u>fired</u> it turned this Robbery in to a Robbery and an Assault. Timothy Englund;

- A. ...So, in this case, because Rigo was pushed by Ms. Pina, I knew -- I wasn't there at the time, I knew something was wrong -- when he was off into where he is now when I come up that something went wrong. And I could see that he was in between Rigo and Ms. Pina.
- Q At this point had you been -- had Rigo notified you that there was something in his pocket he was concerned about?
- A At this time he's yelling at me as I'm running up.
- Q Okay. And what was he yelling at you?
- A That he -- his hand's in his pocket or something -- he has something, but he didn't know exactly what it was, to watch him. (RP 188-89)

Rigoberto Cardenas;

- Q Okay. And what did she and the male do?
- A Well, they -- she proceeded -- and she kinda tried to push me off, but I kinda moved back and then they started passing my right side because our store policy is no-hands contact and no -- we don't have no -- we don't want no confrontation with the customers.
- Q You aren't going to try to --
- A Yeah, I'm not --
- Q -- (inaudible)?
- A -- gonna try to take her down because she tried to put her hands on me. (RP 226)

The actual robbery was complete once Pina pushed and resisted Cardenas. The fact that the crime could be elevated in degree, based on

the possession of the weapon, does not make the crimes the same for double jeopardy, further assault does not require the taking of personal property from another. It is correct that each requires, in this factual situation, the use of a weapon, however they are distinctive crimes and therefore do not merge.

In re Fletcher, 113 Wn.2d 42, 47, 776 P.2d 114 (1989):

The double jeopardy clause does not prohibit the imposition of separate punishments for *different* offenses. State v. Vladovic, 99 Wn.2d 413, 423, 662 P.2d 853 (1983) held that:

In order to be the "same offense" for purposes of double jeopardy the offenses must be the same in law and in fact. If there is an element in each offense which is not included in the other, and proof of one offense would not necessarily also prove the other, the offenses are not constitutionally the same and the double jeopardy clause does not prevent convictions for both offenses.

The test set forth in <u>Vladovic</u> involves two components. First, the offenses must be factually the same. If "proof of one offense would not necessarily also prove the other", double jeopardy would not protect against multiple punishments. <u>Vladovic</u>, at 423.

The actions of Pina and Rizo with regard to the actual robbery were directed towards Mr. Cardenas. The testimony was, the act of firing the gun at Cardenas was separate from the act of turning and firing on Englund therefore even if this court were to find that the robbery and the assault on Cardenas were double jeopardy and merged this court should determine that the second act by Rizo to turn and fire the weapon in the direction of Englund constituted a separate assault. The mere display of

the weapon or the actions of Rizo which lead the victims to believe he had a weapon were sufficient to elevate this crime to Robbery in the first degree. At the moment Rizo took the gun from where he had it hidden and aimed it at Cardenas and when he took the separate action of turning to aim and fire at Englund were separate acts which were necessary to prove the robbery. The testimony regarding these acts was chronologically from inside the store continuing outside when Cardenas indicated to Englund that he, Rizo, had something at his waist. The actions of Rizo in this matter did not need to amount to "assault" in order for the jury to find him guilty of the Robbery. As was recently stated by this court in State v. Gatlin, 241 P.3d 443, 447 (2010):

At issue in any double jeopardy analysis is whether the legislature intended to impose multiple punishments for the same event. In the Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 Wash.2d 795, 815, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). Courts may discern the legislature's purpose by applying the tests set forth in Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932) ("same elements test"). Under <u>Blockburger</u>, " [t]he applicable rule is that, where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not." 284 U.S. at 304, 52 S.Ct. 180. Under the Washington rule, double jeopardy attaches only if the offenses are identical in both law and fact, which is demonstrated when "the evidence required to support a conviction upon one of them would have been sufficient to warrant a conviction upon the other.' "State v. Reiff, 14 Wash. 664, 667, 45

P. 318 (1896) (quoting Morey v. Commonwealth, 108 Mass. 433, 434 (1871)). The "same elements" test and the "same evidence" test are largely indistinguishable. Orange, 152 Wash.2d at 816, 100 P.3d 291.

There was no necessity to prove the assault in order to obtain a conviction for the robbery first degree based on the facts before this court, especially with regard to the Assault first degree which was charged with Mr. Englund as the victim. The robbery was "elevated" in degree not by the assault but by the use of the weapon. It was also not necessary to prove the Robbery in order to prove that the actions of Rizo in discharging the firearm was an assault in the first degree. This can be seen from the elements instructions that were given and which are contained in the appendix. (CP 10, 18, 52)

It is essential that at the time of the actual discharge of the firearm both of the victims appeared to be fleeing the scene. Rizo did not "need" to fire the gun to complete his crime. This was a secondary action which was an attempt to injury both of the victims.

.... And they proceed and then when we get to the parking lot, it's probably 20 to 18 feet away from where I had first confronted them and that's when the male turns around and he -- at waist level, he holds the weapon and he fire -- and as soon as I seen the weapon, I just turned and ran, and that's when I heard the gunshot.

• • •

- A <u>I could not tell what kind of gun. As soon as I saw the gun, I just turned and ran. I just --</u>
- Q And how far were you away from him when you saw the gun?

- A When I saw the gun, I was probably about somewhere around eight feet away, when he pulled the gun out.
- Q And what direction was it pointed?
- A The weapon was pointed at me.
- Q Okay. Directly at you?
- A Yes, it was directly at me.
- Q Okay. Were you afraid of anything at that point?
- A I was just trying to get out of safety, you know, and this -- I heard this -- I just heard the shot, and I was like, I hope I don't get hit.
- Q Okay. Were you concerned about getting hit?
- A Yeah, I was.
- Q Okay. And did you hear a gunshot?
- A Yes, I did hear a gunshot. Possibly two, but I'm not sure, 'cause as soon as I saw the weapon, I just got like an adrenaline rush and just wanted to get out of there soon as I could.
- Q Okay. At what point did you hear the gunshot?
- A As soon as I turned around.
- Q Have you heard a gunshot before?
- A Yes, I have.
- Q And when had you heard a gunshot before?
- A In the military.
- Q Okay. Are you sure it was a gunshot that you heard?
- A Yes, it was a gunshot.
- Q Okay. Could it have been anything else besides a gunshot?
- A No, it was a gunshot.

(RP 228-29)

. . .

- Q Did you see what Tim Englund was doing at this point, while you were running back?
- A Well, as I turned and ran, I kinda saw Englund out of the corner of my eye, duck behind a car and then he took off running too, so.

(RP 230)

...

A Yeah. As soon as I saw the weapon, I just took off. And that's when I ran back into the store. (RP 233)

3. ASSAULT INSTRUCTION WAS PROPER.

In this amended brief Rizo challenges jury instruction 19. The instruction given, states;

An assault is an act, done with intent to inflict bodily injury upon another, tending but failing to accomplish it and accompanied with the apparent present ability to inflict the bodily injury if not prevented. It is not necessary that bodily injury be inflicted. An assault is also an act done with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear *of* bodily injury, and which in fact creates in another a reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury. (CP 45)

Rizo did not object to this instruction the claimed error is not of constitutional magnitude, he has waived this issue on appeal; THE COURT: 35.50...MR. BANDA: No objection. (RP 429); THE COURT: I'll ask again whether there's any exceptions to the giving of or the failure to give instructions...MR. BANDA: No objections. (RP 439)

Under RAP 2.5(a), the court may consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal when it involves a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3). In order to raise an error for the first time on appeal under this rule, the appellant must demonstrate that (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension.

State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). "'Manifest' in RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires a showing of actual prejudice." State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Rizo must make a plausible

showing that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case. <u>Id.</u> This instruction is "WPIC", 35.50, which was proposed by the State's and adopted by the court. This instruction and the supporting case law is contained in its entirety in Appendix A.

An erroneous instruction is harmless if it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. <u>State v. Brown</u>, 147 Wash.2d 330, 332, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). <u>State v. Lundy</u>, 162 Wn.App. 865, 871-2, 256 P.3d 466 (2011);

An erroneous jury instruction, however, is generally subject to a constitutional harmless error analysis. State v. Brown, 147 Wash.2d 330, 332, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). We may hold the error harmless if we are satisfied "beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error.' "State v. Bashaw, 169 Wash.2d 133, 147, 234 P.3d 195 (2010) (quoting Brown, 147 Wash.2d at 341, 58 P.3d 889). Even misleading instructions do not require reversal unless the complaining party can show prejudice. State v. Aguirre, 168 Wash.2d 350, 364, 229 P.3d 669 (2010).

•••

Because Lundy cannot show that he was prejudiced by the instruction or that it relieved the State of its burden of proof, we decline to treat this error as a structural error and instead follow the general rule that erroneous jury instructions are subject to a constitutional harmless error analysis. See Bashaw, 169 Wash.2d at 147, 234 P.3d 195; Brown, 147 Wash.2d at 332, 58 P.3d 889.

A challenged jury instruction will be reviewed de novo, evaluating it in the context of the instructions as a whole. <u>State v. Pirtle</u>, 127 Wn.2d 628, 656, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). It is reversible error to instruct the jury

in a manner that would relieve the State of its burden of proving every essential element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d at 656. RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires that a defendant raising a constitutional error for the first time on appeal show how the alleged error actually affected his rights at trial. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-27, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). This court will employ a two-part analysis to determine whether an asserted error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. See State v. Holzknecht, 157 Wn.App. 754, 760, 238 P.3d 1233 (2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1029, 249 P.3d 623 (2011). First, this court will determine whether the error is truly constitutional, as opposed to another form of trial error. Holzknecht, 157 Wn.App. at 759-60.

Second, this court will decide whether the error is manifest.

Holzknecht, 157 Wn.App. at 760 "Manifest" error requires a defendant to demonstrate actual prejudice. Holzknecht, 157 Wn.App. at 760. Actual prejudice arises if the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences at trial. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (quoting Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 935). To decide the actual prejudice prong, this court will examine the record to determine if it is sufficiently developed to decide the merits of the claim. Manifest errors affecting constitutional rights are subject to harmless error analysis." A

constitutional error is harmless if this court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error. Holzknecht, 157 Wn.App. at 760.

State v. Smith, 159 Wn.2d 778, 154 P.3d 873 (2007) discussed this very question, Smith challenged whether the actions of the trial court in giving an identical instruction resulted in a lack of unanimity. Smith was also charged with First Degree Assault by the State:

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